RECEIVED

SEP 29 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001883
General Sessions Case Nos. 2013-GS-40-06520 & 2013-GS-40-06521

The State of South Carolina,Respondent,

v.

Robert Antonio Guinyard,Petitioner.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Matthew G. Gerrald, S.C. Bar No. 76236
Barnes, Alford, Stork & Johnson, LLP
1613 Main Street (29201)
Post Office Box 8448
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 799-1111

Robert M. Dudek, S.C. Bar No. 1767
S.C. Commission on Indigent Defense
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401 (29201)
Post Office Box 11589

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the trial court err in denying Petitioner's motion for directed verdict where Respondent presented no direct evidence of his guilt and the circumstantial evidence presented against him was not "substantial?"
- II. Did the trial court err in allowing Respondent to enter into evidence shocking photos that had little probative value relative to their danger of unfair prejudice?
- III. Did the Court of Appeals err in consolidating Petitioner's appeal with the appeal of Courtney Shante Thompson where such consolidation was prejudicial to Petitioner?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The deceased victim (referred to herein as "Victim") was the first of five children born to Petitioner Robert Antonio Guinyard ("Antonio") and his girlfriend, Courtney Shante Thompson ("Courtney") (R. v. 3 p. 1002, l. 19 – p. 1003, l. 1; R. v. 3 p. 1092, l. 21 – p. 1093, l. 5). Victim was born in 2009 and died on July 1, 2013. (R. v. 2 p. 709, l. 13-16). The cause of death, as determined by the Richland County Coroner's Office, was "[e]xtensive soft tissue hemorrhage and bleeding . . . due to multiple acute and healing blunt force injuries due to non-accidental trauma." (R. v. 2 p. 747, l. 1-5).

On the afternoon of July 1, 2013, Courtney arrived home from the hospital with her and Antonio's fifth child, having given birth the prior morning. (R. v. 2 p. 822, l. 19-23).

Antonio helped Courtney bring her belongings inside, paid her cab driver, and spent some time playing with his new baby. (R. v. 3 p. 1038, l. 23 – p. 1039, l. 11; R. v. 3 p. 1040, l. 14-17). Later that evening, he began cooking dinner for himself, Courtney, and Victim. (R. v. 3 p. 1041, l. 12-21). While cooking, he heard a “boom” which prompted him to stop cooking, turn off the stove, and go investigate. (R. v. 3 p. 1043, l. 24 – p. 1044, l. 4). As he was walking down the hall, Courtney approached him holding Victim in her arms like a baby. (R. v. 3 p. 1044, l. 5-19). Antonio was shocked and did not know what to do. (R. v. 3 p. 1044, l. 19-23). Courtney called 911 and administered CPR on Victim pursuant to the dispatcher’s instructions. (R. v. 3 p. 1044, l. 24 – p. 1045, l. 18). Upon hearing an ambulance siren, Antonio panicked, picked up his newborn child, and hid in a closet. (R. v. 3 p. 1045, l. 24 – p. 1046, l. 8). He was afraid that Victim’s accident might prompt law enforcement to take the baby. (R. v. 3 p. 1068, l. 18-25). Victim passed away at approximately 6:15 pm. (R. v. 2 p. 791, l. 8-12). Later that evening, Antonio and Courtney agreed to be transported to Richland County Sheriff’s Department headquarters for questioning. (R. v. 2 p. 804, l. 21 – p. 805, l. 5). Antonio denied doing anything to hurt his children. (R. v. 2 p. 811, l. 17-20; R. v. 3 p. 1288).

Approximately three months later, on October 16, 2013, the Richland County Grand Jury issued two indictments against Antonio. The first indictment charged Antonio with homicide by child abuse against Victim in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-85(A)(1) (R. v. 3 p. 1339). The second indictment charged Antonio with unlawful conduct towards a child against Victim in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 63-5-70. (R. v. 3 p. 1341). Together with Courtney, who had been indicted on the same charges, Antonio was tried on May 19-28, 2014, before The Honorable Robert E. Hood.

At the joint trial of Antonio and Courtney, Respondent presented nearly 40 witnesses, none of whom gave any direct evidence incriminating Antonio in Victim's death. Rather, Respondent's case consisted entirely of circumstantial evidence. For example, Sergeant Stan Richards and Investigators Robert Oates, Kristen Polis, and Holly Wagner—all of the Richland County Sheriff's Department—testified regarding their observation of reddish brown stains on various surfaces and articles in Antonio's home. (R. v. 1 p. 71, l. 8 – p. 72, l. 2; R. v. 1 p. 362, l. 23 – p. 363, l. 2; R. v. 1 p. 419, l. 21 – p. 420, l. 2; R. v. 2 p. 523, l. 5-18). Rachel Grant, a DNA analyst with the sheriff's department, testified that some of the stains were Victim's blood, some were Antonio's blood, and others were inconclusive. (R. v. 2 p. 649, l. 4 – p. 668, l. 6). However, neither these witnesses nor any others could competently testify as to how or when the blood came to be on those surfaces and articles.

Respondent also presented evidence from Dr. Olga Rosa, a child abuse pediatrician with the University of South Carolina School of Medicine, and Dr. Amy Durso, a forensic pathologist with Professional Pathology Services who performed Victim's autopsy, regarding serious injuries Victim sustained leading up to and ultimately causing his death. (R. v. 1 p. 473, l. 13 – p. 475, l. 22; R. v. 2 p. 712, l. 22 – p. 719, l. 8). Their testimony—not to mention the photos they reference—is admittedly heartrending. Yet neither Dr. Rosa, Dr. Durso, nor any other witness testified regarding precisely how Victim's injuries were inflicted or, more critically to this case, by whom.

After Respondent rested, counsel for Antonio moved for a directed verdict on the grounds that Respondent had failed to meet its burden of introducing either direct or "substantial" circumstantial evidence of Antonio's guilt. (R. v. 2 p. 929, l. 1 – p. 935, l. 17). However, the trial court denied the motion, ruling that Respondent had introduced

sufficient evidence for the case to be submitted to the jury. (R. v. 2 p. 935, l. 18-25). After resting and again after the close of all evidence, counsel for Antonio renewed his motion for directed verdict, but the trial court denied the motion on the grounds previously stated. (R. v. 3 p. 1087, l. 8-11; R. v. 3 p. 1163, l. 8-16; R. v. 3 p. 1264, l. 18 – p. 1265, l. 5; R. v. 3 p. 1275, l. 9-14).

The jury ultimately found both Antonio and Courtney guilty as charged. (R. v. 3 p. 1267, l. 18 – p. 1268, l. 21). The trial court sentenced Antonio to life without parole on the charge of homicide by child abuse and to ten years concurrent on the charge of unlawful conduct towards a child. (R. v. 3 p. 1282, l. 24 – p. 1283, l. 3; R. v. 3 pp. 1345 & 1346). This appeal followed.

During the briefing period before the Court of Appeals, Respondent's counsel approached the undersigned about the possibility of consolidating Antonio's appeal with Courtney's appeal. See E-mail from Amie Clifford to Matthew Gerrald and Robert Dudek dated June 24, 2015 (attached to Petition for Rehearing as Exhibit A). Antonio's counsel responded, in pertinent part, as follows:

After considering the issue, I cannot agree to consolidate. My client's interests are not aligned with Ms. Thompson's, as they both blamed the other at trial. I also do not wish to share argument time with Ms. Thompson's counsel. While it would be convenient for Appellate Defense to print only one copy of the record, Bob and I agree that such administrative convenience does not, in our view, outweigh the competing considerations.

E-mail from Matthew Gerrald to Amie Clifford and Robert Dudek dated June 30, 2015 at 11:42 AM (attached to Petition for Rehearing as Exhibit B). Respondent's counsel subsequently clarified that she was "*only requesting consolidation for purposes of the Record on Appeal, not for briefing or argument*" (emphasis in original). E-mail from Amie Clifford to Matthew Gerrald and Robert Dudek dated June 30, 2015 at 11:47 AM (attached

to Petition for Rehearing as Exhibit C). In light of that clarification, Antonio's counsel indicated he would not object to Respondent's request. See E-mail from Matthew Gerrald to Amie Clifford and Robert Dudek dated June 30, 2015 at 11:51 AM (attached to Petition for Rehearing as Exhibit D).

Respondent subsequently filed and served its Motion to Consolidate and Supplement Designations of Matter to be Included in Record on Appeal (the "Motion to Consolidate") on July 1, 2015, in which it "move[d] this Court to consolidate these appeals . . . for the limited purpose of preparing a single appellate record[.]" Motion to Consolidate at 1. Respondent further indicated that "[c]onsolidation of these cases for appeal *for the limited purpose of creating and filing a single appellate record* . . . will not prejudice the parties[.]" Id. at 3 (emphasis in original). Finally, Respondent indicated that it "recognizes that it is not desirable to consolidate the cases for oral argument because the appellants do not necessarily share the same interests." Id.

On August 19, 2015, the Court of Appeals entered an Order resolving a number of motions, including the Motion to Consolidate, which stated: "Respondent's motion to consolidate this case with State v. Courtney Thompson (2014-001198) for the purpose of allowing the compilation of a single record on appeal has been granted."

Antonio's appeal and Courtney's appeal were subsequently set for separate oral arguments on March 8, 2017. However, on March 1, 2017, the Clerk of the Court of Appeals notified the parties that, "[a]fter careful consideration, the panel would like to consolidate 2014-001203 State v. Robert Antonio Guinyard and 2014-00198 State v. Courtney S. Thompson *solely for the purpose of oral argument*, beginning at 10:40 am in Courtroom 2 on March 8, 2017" (emphasis added). E-mail from Jenny Abbott Kitchings

to counsel and their staff dated March 1, 2017 (attached to Petition for Rehearing as Exhibit E). Accordingly, the court heard joint oral arguments on March 8, 2017.

On May 11, 2017, the Court of Appeals issued a single opinion affirming both Antonio's and Courtney's convictions. State v. Thompson, 420 S.C. 192, 802 S.E.2d 623 (Ct. App. 2017). The opinion's first footnote indicated, without explanation, that the court had consolidated Antonio's appeal with Courtney's.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED ANTONIO'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT BECAUSE RESPONDENT PRESENTED NO DIRECT EVIDENCE OF HIS GUILT AND THE CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE PRESENTED AGAINST HIM WAS NOT "SUBSTANTIAL."

"On motion of the defendant or on its own motion, the court shall direct a verdict in the defendant's favor on any offense charged in the indictment after the evidence on either side is closed, if there is a failure of competent evidence tending to prove the charge in the indictment." Rule 19, SCRCrimP. Pursuant to this rule, it has long been settled that "[a] defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the state fails to produce evidence of the offense charged." State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). Evidence sufficient to survive a motion for directed verdict has been defined as "direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that reasonably tends to prove the defendant's guilt or from which his guilt may be logically deduced." State v. Pinckney, 339 S.C. 346, 349, 529 S.E.2d 526, 527 (2000). "The jury weighs the evidence but when there is an absence of evidence, it becomes the duty of the trial judge to direct a verdict[.]" State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 134, 322 S.E.2d 450, 452-53 (1984).

- A. Either direct evidence or “substantial” circumstantial evidence of Antonio’s guilt was required.

The primary charge against Antonio was homicide by child abuse, which S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-85(A)(1) defines as causing “the death of a child under the age of eleven while committing child abuse or neglect, and the death occurs under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life.” “Child abuse or neglect” is statutorily defined as “an act or omission by any person which causes harm to the child's physical health or welfare,” while “extreme indifference” has been defined as “a mental state akin to intent characterized by a deliberate act culminating in death.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-85(B)(1); State v. Jarrell, 350 S.C. 90, 98, 564 S.E.2d 362, 367 (Ct. App. 2002).

Antonio was also charged with unlawful conduct towards a child. That offense is defined as:

- (1) plac[ing] the child at unreasonable risk of harm affecting the child’s life, physical or mental health, or safety;
- (2) do[ing] or caus[ing] to be done unlawfully or maliciously any bodily harm to the child so that the life or health of the child is endangered or likely to be endangered; or
- (3) wilfully abandon[ing] the child.

S.C. Code Ann. § 63-5-70(A).

It is indisputable that Respondent presented no direct evidence that Antonio is guilty of either offense. “Direct evidence is based on personal knowledge or observation and ..., *if true*, proves a fact without inference or presumption.” State v. Rogers, 405 S.C. 554, 563, 748 S.E.2d 265, 270 (Ct. App. 2013) (citation and quotation marks omitted) (ellipsis and italics in original). No witness testified based on personal knowledge or

observation of Antonio's culpability for Victim's injuries or death. Rather, Respondent relied exclusively on circumstantial evidence.

As opposed to direct evidence, which requires no inference, circumstantial evidence "is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances from which the existence of a separate fact may be inferred." Id. It is based on inference rather than personal knowledge or observation and "establishes collateral facts from which the main fact may be inferred." Id. (citations and quotation marks omitted). If the State relies solely on circumstantial evidence to prove a defendant's guilt, that evidence must be "substantial." See Pinckney, 339 S.C. at 349, 529 S.E.2d at 527. If the evidence "merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty," a directed verdict should be granted because "suspicion" "implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof." Cherry, 361 S.C. at 594, 606 S.E.2d at 478.

This Court has recently issued three opinions elucidating the meaning of "substantial circumstantial evidence." Analysis of those cases demonstrates that Respondent failed to present such evidence against Antonio.

(i) State v. Bostick indicates that "mere suspicion" is insufficient.

In State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 708 S.E.2d 774 (2011), the defendant was found guilty of murder based on four pieces of circumstantial evidence:

(1) [The victim's] car keys, calculator, and other items from her home were found in the [defendant's] family's burn pile; (2) the fire in the burn pile was accelerated with either kerosene or diesel fuel, and [the defendant's] mother did not use those accelerants when she burned things in the pile; (3) [the defendant] had a pattern that matched gasoline on his shoes and gasoline was the accelerant used for the house fire; and (4) while the DNA from the blood found on [the defendant's] jeans excluded about ninety-nine percent of the population, the blood could not be matched to [the victim's] DNA.

Id. at 141-42, 708 S.E.2d at 778. This Court reversed the trial court's denial of the defendant's motion for directed verdict, finding that even when analyzing the State's evidence in a favorable light, the evidence "raised, at most, a mere suspicion that [the defendant] committed this crime." Id. at 142, 708 S.E.2d at 778.

(ii) State v. Odems indicates that circumstantial evidence must "reasonably tend" to prove guilt.

In State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 720 S.E.2d 48 (2011), the defendant was found guilty of first degree burglary, grand larceny, criminal conspiracy, and malicious injury based on three pieces of circumstantial evidence:

- (1) the fact that less than ninety minutes after the burglary, police located [the defendant] in the getaway car with the burglars and the stolen goods;
- (2) [the defendant] fled from law enforcement; and (3) [the defendant] asked an uninvolved person to lie for him.

Id. at 588, 720 S.E.2d at 51. This Court reversed the defendant's convictions, holding that "[t]he circumstantial evidence presented by the State does not reasonably tend to prove [the defendant's] guilt, and fails this Court's well-settled directive that circumstantial evidence that is not substantial is insufficient to go to a jury." Id. at 592, 720 S.E.2d at 53.

(iii) State v. Hepburn indicates that presence at the scene is not enough.

In State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 753 S.E.2d 402 (2013), the defendant was found guilty of homicide by child abuse based primarily on three pieces of circumstantial evidence: (1) at the time of the victim's death, the defendant's life circumstances were poor and she was she frustrated by her failure to secure employment, her living situation, and her parental responsibilities; (2) according to the testimony of medical professionals, the victim's injuries were severe; and (3) the co-defendant testified that he heard the defendant shaking the victim. Id. at 440, 753 S.E.2d at 414-15. Relying on Bostick, Odems, and the

principle that “[t]he State has the burden of proving identity beyond a reasonable doubt,” Gibbs v. State, 403 S.C. 484, 495, 744 S.E.2d 170, 176 (2013), this Court directed a verdict of acquittal. The Court found it particularly notable that while the defendant was “undoubtedly present at the scene, the only inference that can be drawn from the State’s case is that one of the two co-defendants inflicted the victim’s injuries, but not that *Appellant* [i.e. the defendant] harmed the victim.” Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 440, 753 S.E.2d at 415 (emphasis in original).

B. Respondent’s circumstantial evidence against Antonio was not “substantial.”

As in Bostick, Odems, and Hepburn, Respondent relied solely on circumstantial evidence to prove its case against Antonio. However, the circumstantial evidence it presented was not “substantial” in that it raised a “mere suspicion” of guilt, did not “reasonably tend” to prove guilty, and established little more than that Antonio was present at the scene of Victim’s death. Though Respondent undoubtedly established that Victim had sustained numerous severe injuries and that Antonio was in the house when Victim died, it presented no evidence tending to show that Antonio harmed Victim or that Antonio’s actions caused Victim’s death—much less a “deliberate act culminating in death,” Jarrell, 350 S.C. at 98, 564 S.E.2d at 367—between the specific dates of June 15, 2013, and July 1, 2013, as alleged in the bill of indictment for homicide by child abuse. (R. v. 3 p. 1339). See, e.g., State v. Gunn, 313 S.C. 124, 136, 437 S.E.2d 75, 82 (1993) (“In South Carolina, it is a rule of universal observance in administering the criminal law that a defendant must be convicted, if convicted at all, of the particular offense charged in the bill of indictment.”).

At most, the State's evidence established that both Antonio and Courtney had an opportunity to harm Victim. However, if the only inference that could be drawn from the evidence was that either Antonio or Courtney inflicted Victim's injuries, Antonio was entitled to a directed verdict. In that respect, this case is strikingly similar to Hepburn. In that case, as in this case, two co-defendants were each charged with homicide by child abuse and unlawful conduct towards a child, tried jointly, and convicted on both charges. However, this Court reversed Hepburn's convictions because "the State did not present substantial evidence that *Appellant* [i.e. Hepburn] killed the victim." Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 440; 753 S.E.2d at 415 (emphasis added). The Court found that even though Hepburn was present at the scene, "the only inference that can be drawn from the State's case is that one of the two co-defendants inflicted the victim's injuries, but not that *Appellant* harmed the victim." Id. (emphasis in original).

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