THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5485 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 11, 2017)

Appellate Case No. 2017-001883

RECEIVED
NOV 03 2017
SC Court of Appeals

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

Robert Antonio Guinyard,

Petitioner.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN MCCRORY WILSON
Attorney General

AMIE L. CLIFFORD
Special Assistant Attorney General
aclifford@cpc.sc.gov
S.C. Bar No. 1285

Other Counsel of Record:

MATTHEW G. GERRALD

Barnes, Alford, Stork & Johnson, LLP

P.O. Box 8448

Columbia, South Carolina 29202

(803) 799-1111

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in upholding the trial court's denial of Petitioner's motions for directed verdict when the State presented substantial direct and circumstantial evidence of Petitioner's guilt on both homicide by child abuse and unlawful conduct toward a child?

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in upholding the trial court's admission of photographs (State's Exhibits 13, 15 through 19, 75, 80-81, 83-85, 130, 136-139, 144, 146, 147, 225, and 227-231) when they were highly probative to the issues of whether Victim was abused or neglected, whether the abuse or neglect was the caused his death, and whether his condition would have been apparent, and their probative value substantially outweighed the danger of unfair prejudice?

3. Did the Court of Appeals err in consolidating Petitioner's case with that of his Co-Defendant for purposes of issuing a single opinion?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Petitioner was indicted for the offenses of homicide by child abuse (Indictment 2013-GS-40-06520) and unlawful conduct toward a child (Indictment 2013-GS-40-06521). He pled not guilty and was tried with his Co-Defendant, Courtney Shante Thompson, before a jury in Richland County on May 19 – 28, 2014. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found Petitioner and Co-Defendant guilty as charged. The trial court thereafter sentenced Co-Defendant to a sentence of life imprisonment without parole on the homicide by child abuse conviction and a concurrent ten-year term of incarceration of the conviction for unlawful conduct toward a child. The trial court also ordered Petitioner to be placed on the Central Registry of Child Abuse and Neglect.

Petitioner appealed to the South Carolina Court of Appeals, and that Court affirmed his convictions and sentences. The Court of Appeals denied Petitioner's petition for Rehearing and he

served and filed his Petition for a Writ of Certiorari with this Court on September 29, 2017; Respondent received an extension of the October 30, 2017, original due date until November 3, 2017, to serve and file its Return.

Statement of Facts

Respondent incorporates the facts as set out in the “Statement of Facts” contained in the Final Brief of Respondent filed in the South Carolina Court of Appeals, which is included in the Appendix filed by Petition with this Court. Respondent will only set out certain evidence presented at the trial for purposes of highlighting it.

VICTIM’S CONDITION FROM BIRTH THROUGH APRIL 6, 2012

After spending all but the first two months of his life in foster care, Victim was returned to his parents, Co-Defendant and Petitioner, on April 6, 2012 – just 12 days shy of his third birthday. (ROA p. 111, line 9 – p. 112, line 6; p. 150, lines 4-7; p. 243, lines 8-13; p. 461, lines 6-14; p. 468, lines 22-25; p. 585, lines 9-19.) At that time, he was a happy, healthy little boy.¹ (ROA p. 589, line 19 – p. 590, line 6.)

STATE’S EVIDENCE AS TO CONDUCT OF PETITIONER AND HIS CO-DEFENDANT

A. April 6, 2012 until Approximately 60 Hours before Victim’s Death

After Victim was returned in April 2012, Co-Defendant’s sisters, Crystal Thompson

¹ While in foster care, Victim had regular pediatric check-ups. At 15-months, he was where he should have chronologically been in his development. (ROA p. 562, line 15 – p. 563, line 6.) A brain M.R.I. done when he was 18 months old showed that the structure and the anatomy of his brain were fine. He was “big, chunky, and healthy” – above the 97% percentile for everything on all of the growth charts. And, as a result of recommended speech therapy and a little bit of occupational or physical therapy, by March 26, 2012, Victim was talking in two or three word sentences, socialized, and toilet trained. He was on par with his peers and had reached his potential for his age. (ROA p. 174, lines 16-23; p. 462, line 6 – 463, lines 7-11; p. 466, line 1 – p. 467, line 15.) A genetic consult revealed no metabolic or medical cause that would affect his development. Victim was not autistic. (ROA p. 465, lines 2-25.)

witnessed Petitioner hit Victim twice, punch him, and make him sit on the toilet for three hours. (ROA p. 115, line 19 – 116, line 24; p. 135, line 21 – p. 136, line 8.) Natalie, another of Co-Defendant's sisters, never saw Petitioner beat Victim; but she did see him get angry with and spank him.² She also saw Petitioner present on some of the occasions when Co-Defendant beat Victim. (ROA p. 261, line 24 – p. 262, line 18; p. 263, line 24 – p. 264, line 12; p. 278, lines 1-17.)

Gladys Thompson also observed that Victim was not fed and given water or something to drink on a regular basis (ROA p. 332, lines 13-16). Victim would sometimes eat of trashcans. Natalie never saw Petitioner try to give food or water to Victim when he was hungry or thirsty. (ROA p. 273, lines 2-18.)

Sometime around the end of May or first of June 2013, Natalie went shopping with Petitioner and Co-Defendant. When Petitioner left the van to check on Co-Defendant at the second shop they visited, Natalie heard a "drinking noise" and, for the first time, realized that Victim was sitting in the cargo area of the mini-van. He was drinking a soda that Natalie had bought at the grocery store. He asked her if she had anything to eat. She gave him some chips.³ (ROA p. 270, line 6 – p. 272, line 20; p. 276, lines 14-24.) Victim was only able to eat about half of the bag before Petitioner and Co-Defendant returned to the van. He threw the bag to Natalie, who put it under the seat to hide it from Petitioner and Co-Defendant. She found it, however, and became

² Natalie testified she had "seen [Appellant] hit [Victim], but in the way of a father should, he smacked in the back of the head, but not to hurt him.... And spanked him" (ROA p. 289, lines 2-6.). She did, however, also testify that she remembered telling law enforcement both that Appellant would beat Victim and that she actually saw Appellant knock Victim in the head once. (ROA p. 289, lines 20-25.)

³ Natalie testified at trial that, on this day, Petitioner's mouth was really messed up – "his mouth was real, real dry as if he was dehydrated. His lips were cracked up. They were bloody. The top lip was all pussie [sic]. I had asked about it, but [Co-Defendant] told me that it was something he picked up and ate and it was something wrong. The doctor said it was because of something he ate off the ground or something that she had cream for it." (ROA p. 272, lines 5-11.) Natalie never saw the cream and never saw Co-Defendant apply any cream. (ROA p. 272, lines 12-15.)

angry with Natalie. (ROA p. 272, line 20 – p. 273, line 1; p. 278, line 18 – p. 279, line 3.)

Several members of Co-Defendant's family or extended family and two doctors personally observed injuries to Victim or saw photos of injuries to him, and were concerned enough to try to get help for him. On September 11, 2012 – five months after his return to his parents – Victim was seen by Dr. Monica McCutcheon, a board certified pediatrician, for his three-year-old well child visit. (ROA p. 169, lines 4-8; p. 170, line 18 – p. 171, line 13; p. 172, lines 8-15; p. 469, lines 3-21.) She found Victim to be a well nourished child. Although his speech was a little difficult to understand, he answered questions and seemed developmentally appropriate. Dr. McCutcheon did not see that Victim demonstrated any of the signs of autism. (ROA p. 173, line 15 – p. 174, line 2; p. 178, line 25 – p. 179, line 2; p. 180, lines 8-17.) Dr. McCutcheon determined that Victim had regressed – *i.e.*, he had lost things that he had accomplished such as his speech, ability to engage in symbolic play, and recall of his name, age, sex or gender – and she made several referrals for Victim. (ROA p. 176, lines 1-10; p. 470, line 2 – p. 471, line 16.) After Victim left her office, Dr. McCutcheon placed a call to the DSS case worker because of her concern over his parents' lack of knowledge and follow up on medical care. (ROA p. 176, line 1 – p. 178, line 9; p. 472, lines 4-7.) Victim was never seen by any of the referrals and not seen again by Dr. McCutcheon's practice or any other doctor prior to his death. (ROA p. 176, lines 11-23; p. 177, lines 13-18; p. 472, lines 10-21.)

By the spring of 2013, Angela Metze, the grandmother of one of Victim's sisters, noticed that Victim had changed. He had lost a significant amount of weight, he was not active, he would not talk when told to do so, and he was withdrawn. (ROA p. 586, line 16 – p. 587, line 10; p. 580, lines 7-25.) Sometime in February 2013, Ms. Metze received some photographs of Victim showing bruises, scars, and marks from beatings on his back. She contacted DSS several times. (ROA p.

589, line 18 – p. 590, line 5.) Ms. Metze offered to help with Victim, but they never let her do so and, to her knowledge, Victim never went with anyone else. He always stayed with them. (ROA p. 603, lines 17-25.)

On the same day around Easter in 2013 that she heard Co-Defendant spanking/beating Victim, Maria also observed that Victim was limping and he had bruises on his back. (ROA p. 247, line 19 – p. 248, line 13.) Maria called DSS several times about Victim's condition. (ROA p. 249, line 25 – p. 251, line 21.) Natalie also called the police and DSS several times on both Petitioner and Co-Defendant. When DSS told her that she needed proof of his condition, Natalie took photographs⁴ of Victim his face to show who he was and his body to show bruises. (ROA p. 261, line 16 – p. 263, line 23; p. 264, lines 20-22; p. 281, line 24 – p. 282, line 5.)

On April 5, 2013, Ms. Metze went to the Five Points Pediatric Group and talked to Dr. Kiersten Lofton, who had never seen Victim. Ms. Metze told Dr. Lofton that she was concerned that Victim was being abused and she showed Dr. Lofton photos on her phone, taken approximately one month earlier, that showed Victim's back. Ms. Metze wanted Dr. Lofton's help in reporting to police or DSS that Victim was being abused. (ROA p. 307, lines 14-18; p. 309, line 19 – p. 312, line 20; p. 590, lines 5-10.) Dr. Lofton was concerned by the photographs of Victim's lower to mid back area. She observed what appeared to be patterned markings on Victim's back, indicating to her that the markings were caused by Victim having been struck with something that left a pattern, rather than resulting from a rash or infection. (ROA p. 312, line 21 – p. 313, line 10.) Dr. Lofton reported her observations and opinion to DSS that day and asked them to follow up. (ROA p. 313, line 11 – p. 314, line 7.) Later that same day, Dr. Lofton was contacted by the police

⁴ The photographs were admitted into evidence without objection as States Exhibits 215 through 222.

department and told that Victim had a skin condition. (ROA p. 314, lines 8-23.) Dr. Lofton, who had considered and rejected the possibility that the markings were the result of a skin condition, followed up with DSS. She told them that she had reviewed Victim's records from her clinic and the clinic that had previously seen Victim, and she had found no documentation of a skin condition. She also told DSS that they needed to look into possible medical neglect because her clinic's records indicated that there had been no follow up on the earlier referrals made for Victim's possible urology and developmental issues. (ROA p. 314, line 24 – p. 316, line 15.)

**B. Conduct of Petitioner and Co-Defendant beginning
Approximately 59 Hours Prior to Victim's Death**

Co-Defendant went into labor at some time during the early morning hours of Saturday, June 29, 2013. From the hospital later that morning, she called and arranged to have two of her daughters picked up from the house and taken care of by someone other than Petitioner so that he could come visit her. Kimberly Gooden picked up Petitioner and Co-Defendant's one-year-old daughter from Co-Defendant's and Petitioner's home. She did not see Victim. (ROA p. 555, line 5 – p. 557, line 4.) Ms. Metze, who already had Petitioner's and Co-Defendant's two-year-old daughter, agreed to go pick up their three-year-old daughter. When she drove up to their home, Petitioner was outside with the girl. Ms. Metze did not see Victim that day and, in fact, had not seen him since around Easter. (ROA p. 593, line 10 – p. 595, line 23; p. 609, line 22 – p. 610, line 3.)

Petitioner's and Co-Defendant's newest child was born in the early morning hours of Sunday, June 30. (ROA p. 836, lines 3-10; p. 878, line 20 – p. 879, line 24; State's Exhibits 2A and 250-A.) At 1:06 p.m. on July 1, Co-Defendant and her new baby were discharged from the hospital and, using her cellphone, she called for a taxi at 1:06 p.m. to take her home and arrived home before 2:00 p.m. (ROA p. 780, line 22 – p. 783, line 8; p. 784, lines 11-19; p. 836, lines 3-

10; p. 811, lines 17-20; p. 878, line 20 – p. 879, line 24.)

Throughout the afternoon after she arrived home, Co-Defendant made and received telephone calls. (State's Exhibit 250A at ROA p. 1299.) At 5:05 p.m., she received a call from Crystal and talked to her for a little over two minutes. (ROA p. 878, line 20 – p. 880, line 15; State's Exhibit 2A; State's Exhibit 250A at ROA p. 1299.) During their telephone conversation, Co-Defendant told Crystal that Victim had gotten a cracker out of the bag she had brought home from the hospital and was trying to eat it. Crystal heard Co-Defendant tell Petitioner to go see what Victim was doing. (ROA p. 117, line 1 – p. 119, line 17.) Co-Defendant said she going to take a shower and they hung up. The phone then "dialed back" or "butt dialed" Crystal. When Crystal answered, the phone line was open and she could hear Victim getting beat and screaming for help. She heard him say, "Lord, help me." She also heard Co-Defendant tell him to "hush," and then heard Co-Defendant and Petitioner talking, with Co-Defendant telling Petitioner to hold his legs and Petitioner later saying that Victim was not moving. The phone then went dead. (ROA p. 119, line 21 – p. 122, line 8; p. 125, lines 23-25; p. 153, lines 7-10.)

At 5:07 p.m., almost as soon as the call with Crystal ended, Co-Defendant called Nicole and spoke for 20 seconds. After that call, Co-Defendant conducted five Google searches on her cellphone on what to do if a child has a seizure. There were numerous calls made after that, but a 911 call was not made to almost an hour later. (ROA p. 878, line 20 – p. 883, line 3; State's Exhibit 2A; State's Exhibit 250A at ROA p. 1300.)

At 6:12 p.m., Co-Defendant called 911 and reported that Victim had fallen and was having problems breathing. (ROA p. 882, lines 16-20.) Esther Curran, an EMT with Richland County EMS, and her partner were dispatched at approximately 6:14 or 6:15 p.m. to the home and arrived in less than five minutes. (ROA p. 40, line 2 – p. 42, line 6; p. 416, lines 14-19.) The screen door

was locked and the house was silent. After a few more knocks, a woman opened the door. (ROA p. 42, lines 7-19; p. 51, lines 20-22.)

When the door opened, EMT Curran saw four-year-old Victim laying face up on the floor just inside the living room. He was not wearing a shirt or socks – just jeans, which had a stain like children have when they have wet themselves. (ROA p. 42, lines 20-24; p. 46, line 22 – p. 47, line 2; p. 65, lines 4-5; p. 110, line 20 – p. 111, line 13; p. 171, lines 4-9.) EMT Curran was not told anyone had performed CPR on the boy and she saw no one doing so. Without turning him over, EMT Curran saw a small cut to the Victim's lip and "Raccoon like" bruising around both eyes, which indicated to her the injuries had happened at some earlier time. He was still, cold to the touch, not breathing, without a pulse, and his hands, soles, and his feet were "gray, like a dusky color" indicating that he had been dead for some period of time. (ROA p. 42, line 25 – p. 44, line 8; p. 45, line 18 – p. 46, line 21; p. 47, lines 3-21.) EMT Curran only saw Victim's mother, Co-Defendant, in the house. The EMTs questioned her about the Victim's health history, and about what had happened. (ROA p. 48, line 1 – p. 49, line 25; p. 50, lines 10-24.)

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